STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Anderson County

Honorable J. C. Buddy Nicholson, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED
FEB 24 2020
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARRELL EUGENE BLACKWELL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001892

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by admitting appellant's recorded statement into evidence, where the interrogating Detective, Garrett, did not testify, and was not subject to cross-examination, since this violated appellant's right to Confrontation and admitted hearsay evidence including Garrett repeatedly telling appellant the videotape showed appellant robbing the store, and asserted that appellant was using a knife during the robbery, and insinuated the robbery was an "inside job" between appellant and the clerk who was supposed to be working that night?

2.

Whether the court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of strong arm robbery, where there was no testimony appellant was armed with a deadly weapon, appellant denied using a knife, where the videotape was inconclusive on the knife, and where there was no evidence the clerk working at the store thought the toy gun was represented as being a real gun, since appellant was entitled to that lesser-included offense instruction under the "any evidence" standard?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Anderson County Grand Jury for the offense of armed robbery. R. 182. His case was called to trial on October 8, 2018, before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, and a jury. Hadden Lucas and Gordon Senerius represented appellant. Deputy solicitor Catherine Huey and assistant solicitor Stan Overby represented the state. R. 1.

On October 9, 2018, the jury found appellant guilty. Judge Nicholson sentenced appellant to eighteen years' imprisonment. R. 158, ll. 20-22.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Tape the Interview – Voluntariness, Confrontation Clause and Hearsay

Voluntariness: “On appeal, the conclusion of the trial judge on issues of fact as to the voluntariness of a confession will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion.” State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990); see also State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 43, 503 S.E.2d 747, 751 (1998). Put another way, the reviewing court will reverse a trial judge’s ruling on the voluntariness of the confession when the ruling is “so erroneous as to constitute an abuse of discretion.” State v. Myers, 359 S.C. 40, 47, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004). “In criminal cases, appellate courts are bound by fact finding in response to preliminary motions where there has been conflicting testimony or where the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by an error of law.” State v. Asbury, 328 S.C. 187, 193, 493 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1997).

Confrontation Clause: The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees that “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him.” This procedural protection applies in both federal and state prosecutions by virtue of the Fourteenth Amendment. Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 406, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965).

Hearsay: “The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. at 429–30, 632 S.E.2d at 848.

Lesser-included Offense: “The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial.” State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). “The trial court is required to charge a jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred that the defendant committed the lesser, rather than the greater, offense.” State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303, 308, 764 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2014); see also State v. Drafts, 288 S.C. 30, 340 S.E.2d 784 (1986); State v. Gourdine, 322 S.C. 396, 472 S.E.2d 241 (1996). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial [court]'s decision absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166 (2007). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id. at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 166–67. “The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law.” Id. at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 167. “In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser-included offense, the [appellate court] must view the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant.” Sams, 410 S.C. at 308, 764 S.E.2d at 513 (citing State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 525 S.E.2d 511 (2000)). “The charge request is properly rejected when there is no evidence tending to show the defendant was guilty of the lesser offense.” Id. (citing State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996); State v. Cooney, 320 S.C. 107, 463 S.E.2d 597 (1995); State v. Gadsden, 314 S.C. 229, 442 S.E.2d 594 (1994)).

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by admitting appellant's recorded statement into evidence, where the interrogating Detective, Garrett, did not testify, and was not subject to cross-examination, since this violated appellant's right to Confrontation and admitted hearsay evidence including Garrett repeatedly telling appellant the videotape showed appellant robbing the store, and asserted that appellant was using a knife during the robbery, and insinuated the robbery was an "inside job" between appellant and the clerk who was supposed to be working that night

Relevant Facts

This case involves the robbery of the Shop Rite in Anderson on January 9, 2016. R. 27, ll. 6-19. This is a strange case, and appellant's memory may unfortunately have been compromised in his own defense due to intoxication. The clerk who was robbed that night did not testify, nor did anyone working in the store testify or identify appellant as being the robber from the videotape.¹

If appellant was the robber, defense counsel told the jury in closing, "Was Darrell Blackwell armed when he went into the store?" R. 137, ll. 1-7. The videotape of the robbery, State's Exhibit 4, was played for the jury and is an exhibit before this Court. Assuming appellant was the robber, since there was no normal in court identification, it was not abundantly clear that appellant was armed with a knife. Garrett told appellant during the interview that he had a gun

¹ Appellant's brother, Mark Blackwell, who thought appellant was taking advantage of their elderly mother by living with her, said still photographs of the robbery "[c]aused a lot of contradiction within the family. There was a lot of people calling myself, calling my mother, calling my niece . . . I identified who I thought was my brother in the picture." R. 95, ll. 10-22. This was hardly a confident identification by appellant's brother, Mark, and Mark asserted his mother was an "enabler," when challenged to admit his bias about his concern appellant was a burden on his elderly mother, and that he was using her by still living with her. R. 96, ll. 2-11.

in his right hand, and a knife in his left hand. A close review of the videotape, which was shown to the jury in “real time” reveals that if the object in appellant’s left hand was a knife it had to be in a case or appellant would have badly cut himself given the dramatic movements of the robber, including jumping over the counter, and using both hands, while grabbing merchandise and money from the cash register. Further, as will be seen infra, appellant told Garrett he only had owned a toy gun, a “cap gun,” and there was no testimony from the clerk who was robbed that he thought the gun was real -- if appellant was the robber. Garrett told appellant on the interrogation audiotape -- admitted over appellant’s confrontation clause and hearsay objections - - that he was armed with a knife, that he went into the store with the intent to rob it, that he stole cigarettes and cigarette coupons as well as a laptop, and insinuated that the robbery was an inside job with Sherry, the “mysteriously missing” clerk who should have been working at the time of the robbery.

Prior to trial, a Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), hearing was held on the admissibility of appellant’s statement during his interview with Investigator Garrett. Garrett did not appear or testify during the trial. The state called Investigator Scotty Hill of the Anderson County Sherriff’s Department as a witness. R. 2, l. 13 – 3, l. 4.

Hill remembered that appellant was interviewed by Detective Jamie Garrett at the Anderson County Detention Center in February, 2016. R. 3; ll. 5-25. The interview took place in a small office where cleaning supplies were also stored. Appellant was not handcuffed at the time. R. 4, ll. 1-21. Appellant was given his Miranda warnings, and Hill said appellant understood his rights. R. 7, ll. 5-18.

Hill said appellant’s interview with Garrett on February 1, 2016, and that it was tape recorded. R. 8, l. 7 – 10, l. 23. Hill said he was present during the interview, but he did not say a

word. The judge said he did not want to listen to the audiotape that the state wanted him to admit, but that he would read whatever transcript the parties were relying on at the time of the Jackson v. Denno statement. R. 10, l. 10 – 11, l. 9.

Hill said the video recording of the robbery was not shown to appellant until the end of the interview. R. 12, ll. 19-24. Investigator Hill admitted that Detective Garrett telling appellant what allegedly happened in the store before showing him the videotape *was an "interrogation tactic."* Hill added, "Detective Garrett did that. I don't know what his motives were behind it." R. 13, ll. 3-5. (emphasis added). The following occurred on cross-examination of Investigator Hill:

Q: Usually the idea is to get someone to agree with you that, in fact, it happened a certain – a certain way, correct?

A: The motive is to find out what happened from the person we're speaking with.

Q: Not to obtain a confession?

A: If they're guilty, then, yes, confession.

Q: So he was shown a video, and then without seeing it he was told what happened?

A: Yes.

R. 13, ll. 6-15.

Defense counsel then argued that appellant's will was overborne during the statement and that it was not freely and voluntarily given. Defense counsel argued, "Mr. Blackwell is not a sophisticated man. He was led along through a confession being told that the video showed certain things and not actually being shown it. That's the basis of our argument, Judge. Nothing more, nothing less. And we think that that led to his will to be overborne and makes this

confession not -- not freely and voluntarily given.” R. 14, l. 21 – 19, l. 3. The judge denied the motion to suppress appellant’s statement given during the interview. R. 19, ll. 4-22.

Defense counsel Lucas, the next day, added Confrontation Clause and hearsay objections to the admission of the Detective Garrett - Appellant interview audiotape when he learned Detective Garrett was not being brought back to Anderson from Washington State to testify, and be subject to cross-examination. R. 108, l. 2 – 119, l. 11.

Testimony Before the Jury

Anderson County Sherriff’s Deputy Rhonda Phillips testified on the night of January 9, 2016, she was dispatched to the Shop Rite on Sayre Street. R. 26, l. 4 – 28, l. 11. The description of the robber was that he was a “white man with a beard that left in a [white] van.” Phillips did not know if the robber was disguised, and she did not watch the surveillance tape of the robbery. R. 29, l. 3 – 30, l. 11.

During the investigation, the police went to a house owned by appellant’s mother, which was located next to a dilapidated house – the police thought was “unoccupied” -- where appellant apparently lived. The white van the police believed was present during the robbery was parked behind one of the houses. The police found a brown stocking cap and “a black jacket with a gray hood” which they believed from the videotape appellant was wearing at the time of the robbery. R. 76, l. 23 – 90, l. 17.

When the state went to introduce the audiotape of appellant’s interview with Detective Garrett, defense counsel objected. R. 104, l. 6 – 106, l. 14. Defense counsel Lucas said Investigator Hill admitted he did not ask any questions during the interview and that “all questions were asked by Detective Garrett.” R. 107, ll. 10-20. Defense counsel argued that admitting the audiotape of appellant’s interview without a chance to confront and cross-examine

Detective Garrett violated appellant's right to confrontation. Counsel also noted that Detective Garrett's statements during the interrogation were hearsay and it was clear some of them were offered for the truth of the matter asserted.

Defense counsel told the judge his argument was grounded in State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656 (2015), as to hearsay statements that were made during an interrogation not being admissible in evidence against the defendant. R. 108, l. 3 – 119, l. 12. The judge denied appellant's confrontation clause and hearsay objections as they pertained to the interview between Detective Garrett and appellant. Defense counsel said he was "caught by surprise" when Detective Garrett was not testifying "today," and that "this is a new issue for me as of yesterday." R. 110, l. 17 – 119, l. 22. The Garrett-Appellant interview was then played for the jury over appellant's objection. R. 119, ll. 20-22.

The Taped Interview Between Garrett and Appellant

Investigator Hill claimed appellant acknowledged that he was the man on the videotape, although the audiotape itself seems to have appellant never admitting that fact and stating, "If I did it, I did it," and that he needed help if he did it. Again, the audiotape is on file with this Court. R. 120, l. 2 – 122, l. 7.

In the audiotaped statement between Detective Garrett and appellant, the following occurred in what can only be described as a very bizarre police interview with appellant. Again, the tape is on file with this Court.

Investigator Garrett, who did not testify at trial told appellant he was captured on videotape robbing the store. No one identified appellant in court as the robber on the videotape. Garrett told appellant during the interview the video was "very damning" although Garrett allegedly could not get the video to play until the end of the interview. (Hill testified this was an

interrogation tactic). Garrett told appellant that it “was plain as day” that he had a gun in one hand, and a knife in his left hand where he claimed he could not get the video to play. Again, no one, including Garrett, or the person behind the counter on the videotape at the time the robber entered, identified appellant at trial as the robber on the tape.

Appellant – his voice rising – denied having a knife with him, and he said he only had a toy gun, a cap gun. He said he never had owned a real gun, and he said he either bought or sold the toy gun on Craigslist. No gun was ever recovered.

Appellant said his van was running hot that night, so he went to the store to see Sherry. Appellant said he knew Sherry would give him water for the van, and apparently money to fix it. Garrett noted that Sherry was supposed to be working that night, but she “mysteriously had to leave” before the robbery occurred. Later in the interview, Garrett asked appellant if Sherry “was in on” the robbery, thereby signaling he had reason to think the robbery was an “inside job,” or he was using deception to further his confession cause.

Appellant never admitted he was the robber even when Garrett told appellant he went into the store to “rob it,” and that it was allegedly “plain as day” he had a gun and a knife during the robbery. Garrett said he understood appellant’s mother denied it was appellant on the videotape, but Garrett said it was understandable appellant’s mother would say that. Appellant’s mother also did not testify at trial.

Appellant admitted to taking \$98.00, and cigarettes from the store but he denied taking a laptop or to stealing cigarette coupons. At one point, appellant seemed to maintain no one was in the store at the time he took these items. When Garrett finally played the videotape of the robbery, appellant still did not admit it was him on the videotape. Appellant only said after watching the videotape that he did not remember it, and he said if “I did it, I did it,” and that he

needed help. Appellant asked Garrett for advice, and Garrett told appellant he had a good lawyer, and to talk to his attorney, and pray.

Discussion

In State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656 (2015), the Supreme Court acknowledged that law enforcement investigation techniques can include misrepresenting the existence and strength of evidence against an accused as well as asking the accused to produce evidence voluntarily. State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 244, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996). The Court in Brewer noted that the investigators frequently referenced and quoted purported eyewitnesses to Brewer about shooting both victims. The Court held the evidence was hearsay, it was offered for the purpose of proving the truth of the matter asserted, and it ruled that they were inadmissible.

The Court wrote, “We emphasize that today’s decision is not a categorical rule that any statement by an investigator during an interrogation is inadmissible at trial. As recognized by the North Carolina Court of Appeals, however, caution must be exercised in the admission of such evidence to ensure that all out-of-court statements are either ‘admissible for a valid non-hearsay purpose or as an exception to the hearsay rule in order to safeguard against an end-run around the evidentiary and constitutional proscriptions against the admission of hearsay.’ State v. Miller, 197 N.C. App. 78, 676 S.E.2d 546, 556 (2009). To that end, ‘we would like to remind trial courts that the questions police pose during suspect interviews may contain false accusations, inherently unreliable, unconfirmed or false statements, and inflammatory remarks that constitute legitimate points of inquiry during a police interrogation, but would otherwise be inadmissible in open court.’” State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 407-08, 768 S.E.2d 656, 659 (2015).

As seen, Investigator Hill, the testifying witness for the state, testified in the absence of Detective Garrett that Garrett was using investigatory tactics by telling appellant what was on the videotape without showing appellant the videotape until the very end of the interview. Detective Garrett told appellant throughout the interview that he was the robber, that he was armed with a gun and a knife, and that he stole various items including a laptop and cigarette coupons, as well as cigarettes, from the store that night. Garrett insinuated he had reason to believe the robbery was an “inside job” between appellant and Sherry who was “mysteriously missing” that night.

The audiotape can be difficult to decipher at times, but Investigator Hill’s interpretation of the audiotape, particularly as it pertains to Hill’s bold statement that appellant admitted his guilt, shows the very difficulty that State v. Brewer warned against, because it denied appellant the opportunity to confront and cross-examine Detective Garrett, and it allowed Detective Garrett’s hearsay statements about the robbery to be placed before the jury.

Appellant had the right under the Confrontation clause to confront and cross-examine Garrett about his interrogation tactics, and him telling appellant it was clear that appellant was armed with a knife in his left hand where that was not apparent, particularly in the seconds the jury had to watch the videotape in “real time.”

A defendant demonstrates a Confrontation Clause violation when he is prohibited from engaging in otherwise appropriate cross-examination designed to show a prototypical for of bias . . . from which jurors . . . could draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness.” State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 401-01, 673 S.E.2d 434, 439 (2009), *citing* Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 680 (2012). State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 372, 731 S.E.2d 880, 885 (2012).

Appellant had the right to confront and cross-examine Garrett about his assertions that it was appellant that went into the store, that appellant planned to rob the store, that appellant was

armed with a knife in his left hand, about what appellant's mother actually said about the videotape, and his insinuations that Sherry may have "been in" on the crime, as they were, Garrett's hearsay assertions. See State v. Washington, 379 S.C. 120, 665 S.E.2d 602 (2008) *citing* State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001). Defense counsel made the proper objection that the admission of the audiotape without the opportunity to confront and cross-examine Garrett denied appellant his rights under the Confrontation Clause and allowed the admission of hearsay assertions to go unchallenged. Appellant should be granted a new trial. State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 407-08, 768 S.E.2d 656, 659 (2015).

The court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of strong arm robbery, where there was no testimony appellant was armed with a deadly weapon, appellant denied using a knife, and the videotape was inconclusive on the knife, and where there was no evidence the clerk working at the store thought the toy gun was represented as being a real gun, since appellant was entitled to that lesser-included offense instruction under the “any evidence” standard

Relevant Facts

Defense counsel requested a charge on the lesser included offense of strong-arm robbery. “And we’re requesting it on the basis that we believe the defendant’s statements, that he did not have a knife and it was a toy gun, would substantiate that charge.” R. 155, ll. 17-23. The request to charge was marked as Court’s Exhibit 3 and it is before this Court to review.

The solicitor argued that “[t]he only evidence in the record is that a knife was used based on the video and stills. Additionally, the defendant himself does admit to having a gun, albeit a toy gun. That still lends itself to armed robbery as opposed to strong arm [robbery].” R. 156, l. 19 – 157, l. 2.

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