STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**ORIGINAL**

---

Appeal from Anderson County  
The Honorable J.C. Buddy Nicholson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001892

---

**RECEIVED**

FEB 24 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DARRELL EUGENE BLACKWELL,

APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3713

DAVID R. WAGNER  
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

100 South Main St.  
Anderson, SC 29624  
(864) 260-4046

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial judge properly admitted Appellant's recorded statement into evidence because the non-testifying officer's statements were not hearsay or a violation of the Confrontation Clause because his statements in the recording were not utilized as evidence against Appellant. Regardless, any error in the admission of the statements is harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt, including the video recording of the crime.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in admitting Garrett's recorded statements because his unavailability as a witness rendered those statements as inadmissible violations of the Confrontation Clause and hearsay rules. The State disagrees with these allegations of error. Garrett's statements were used as evidence or for any "truth" therein and thus did not violate rules. Further, any alleged error in the admission of the recorded statements were harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt, including the video recording of the crime which showed his face while he robbed the store.

"The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477-78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011).

A defendant demonstrates a Confrontation Clause violation when he is prohibited from engaging in otherwise appropriate **cross-examination** designed to show a prototypical form of bias . . . from which jurors . . . could draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness." State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 372, 731 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012) (emphasis added).

"The right to meaningful cross-examination of an adverse witness is included in the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confront his accusers. This does not mean, however, that

trial courts conducting criminal trials lose their usual discretion to limit the scope of cross-examination. On the contrary, 'trial judges retain wide latitude insofar as the Confrontation Clause is concerned to impose reasonable limits on such **cross-examination** based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, witness' safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant.' State v. Aleskey, 343 S.C. 20, 33, 538 S.E.2d 248, 255 (2000) (citing Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986)) (emphasis added).

"The principal evil at which the Confrontation Clause was directed was the civil-law mode of criminal procedure, and particularly its use of ex parte examinations as evidence **against the accused.**" Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 50 (2004) (emphasis added). Generally speaking, the Confrontation Clause guarantees an opportunity for effective **cross-examination**, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish. Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20 (1985) (emphasis added).

In South Carolina, hearsay is inadmissible "except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute." Rule 802, SCRE. Our rules of evidence define hearsay as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801(c), SCRE. Admissions by a party opponent offered against him in criminal proceeding are not hearsay. See Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE.

Importantly, a statement that is not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted should not be excluded as hearsay. See State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 247 S.E.2d 334 (1978) (statement implicating defendant in alleged prior crimes, which was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, that is, that defendant in fact committed the prior crimes, but to

establish motive, was not “hearsay” and its admission was not error); Hawkins v. Pathology Assocs. of Greenville, P.A., 330 S.C. 92, 498 S.E.2d 395 (Ct.App.1998) (allowing admission of letters, an anniversary card, and video to show close familial bond between the decedent, her husband, and her children in a malpractice action). Evidence of an out of court statement offered to prove the effect on a person hearing the statement is outside of the definition of hearsay because the statements are not offered to prove their truth. Watson v. Wall, 239 S.C. 109, 121 S.E.2d 427 (1961).

Further, non-assertive statements or conduct is not hearsay. See Danny R. Collins, South Carolina Evidence, Section 16.6, pp. 487- 488, (2<sup>nd</sup> ed., S.C. Bar 2000). Several categories of statements as non-assertive include questions and exclamation. Id. A question is not hearsay because it is not assertive. State v. Johnson, 324 S.C. 38, 476 S.E.2d 681 (1996). “An inquiry is not an ‘assertion,’ and accordingly is not and cannot be a hearsay statement.” Inc. Pub. Corp. v. Manhattan Magazine, Inc., 616 F.Supp. 370, 388 (S.D.N.Y.1985), aff’d, 788 F.2d 3 (2d Cir.1986). Because a question cannot be used to show the truth of the matter asserted, the dangers necessitating the hearsay rule are not present. See United States v. Detrich, 865 F.2d 17, 20–21 (2d Cir.1988).

In State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656 (2015), the Supreme Court of South Carolina found an officer’s portion of an audio recorded interview constituted inadmissible hearsay evidence. The court’s ruling focused on the fact that investigators frequently referenced and quoted purported eyewitnesses to the defendant shooting the victims. Id. at 406–07, 768 S.E.2d at 659. The court found the challenged statements were offered solely in an attempt to prove the truth of Brewer shooting the victims because Appellant never incriminated himself during the recording and repeatedly denied shooting anyone; the only information in the

recording pertaining to guilt were the investigator's hearsay statements. Id. at 407, 768 S.E.2d at 659. However, the court "emphasize[d] that [its] decision [was] not a categorical rule that any statement by an investigator during an interrogation is inadmissible at trial," but a decision indicating such out-of-court statements are either admissible as valid non-hearsay statements or, if hearsay, under one of the exceptions to the rule. Id. at 407–08, 768 S.E.2d at 659.

The present case is quite distinguishable from Brewer. In fact, the parties and the trial judge discussed Brewer and applied its logic to the redaction of Appellant's audio statement. The State made sure to redact the portions of the recording in which the investigator referenced any statements made by other witnesses. Such behavior is opposite of that which occurred in Brewer, in which the only substantive information within the recording was the officer's recitation of what other people told police. Id. at 407, 768 S.E.2d at 659.

Further, Garrett's recorded statements were not hearsay because they were not submitted for the truth of the matter asserted. Investigator Garrett's questions were not submitted as proof of Appellant's guilt; trial counsel conceded at trial that Garrett's statements were "offered for context." Investigator Garrett informed Appellant of information within investigators' possession, but gave Appellant the opportunity to contradict the information and explain what occurred. Investigator Garrett's questions, including those pertaining to a possible coconspirator,<sup>2</sup> were not part of the State's case against Appellant and the State did not present any information regarding these statements and questions at trial. The questions were only played to the jury because they were reference points for the incriminating admissions made by

---

<sup>2</sup> As noted by Appellant, officers were initially investigating the possibility that Appellant may, to some extent, have committed the crime with some degree of cooperation with "Sherry," a clerk working at the robbed store the night in question who left shortly before the crime. (Br. of Appellant, p.12). However, this was not a claim pursued at trial; the State did not contradict this claim nor was Appellant charged with criminal conspiracy. Thus, the truth of such assertions was irrelevant to Appellant's trial and ultimate conviction.

Appellant. Both at trial and now, Appellant has been unable to identify any “truth” in Garrett’s statements used in his prosecution.

Additionally, the admission of Garrett’s statements was not a violation of the Confrontation Clause. Again, as noted above, Garrett’s statements were not submitted as evidence or proof of Appellant’s guilt; thus there was no witness to “confront” on cross-examination. See Crawford, 541 U.S. at 50.

Accordingly, the trial judge properly admitted Garrett’s statements from the audio recording.

### **Harmless Error**

Even if improper hearsay evidence is admitted, any error in the admission of the hearsay evidence is subject to a harmless error analysis and only warrants reversal if it results in actual prejudice. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 288, 625 S.E.2d 641, 646 (2006). Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006). Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008).

In the instant case, even without redactions to the recording of Appellant’s statement to police, the overwhelming evidence demonstrates his guilt. Notably, Appellant’s own statements of guilt, including his admission to going to the gas station that night and possessing the “gun” would still be admissible in a retrial. Further, Appellant does not dispute the admissibility of the video recording of the armed robbery or the images taken therefrom which show his face and clearly identify him as the culprit of the crime. Alone, these items would leave no doubt as to his

guilt, but they are also supported by the circumstantial evidence collected by the officers, including cigarettes matching the brand of those stolen and pieces of clothing identical to those worn by the robber. Accordingly, any alleged error in the admission of the investigator's statements within the recording must be harmless given the substantial evidence of Appellant's guilt. See Fletcher, 379 S.C. at 25, 664 S.E.2d at 484.

## II.

**The trial judge properly refused to charge the jury on the lesser-included offense of strong arm robbery because the undisputed evidence at trial showed Appellant robbed his victims using either a real weapon or a convincing representation thereof.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in refusing to charge the jury on the offense of strong arm robbery. The State disagrees with this allegation of error because the only evidence at trial indicated Appellant robbed the store with either real weapons or items he represented as such. Thus there was no evidence Appellant was guilty of strong arm robbery and not armed robbery.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009). “No instruction should be given by the trial judge, at the request of the appellant, which tenders an issue which is not presented or supported by the evidence.” State v. Weaver, 265 S.C. 130, 137, 217 S.E.2d 31, 34 (1975). “Ordinarily, the trial court has the duty to give requested instructions which correctly state the law applicable to the issues and which are supported by the evidence.” State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 553, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996). The trial court only commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 838, 849 (1993).

“A trial judge is required to charge the jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed.” State v. Green, 397 S.C. 268, 289, 724 S.E.2d 664, 674 (2012). “The mere contention that the jury might accept the State’s evidence in part and reject it in part is

insufficient to satisfy the requirement that some evidence tends to show the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense.” State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 608, 635 S.E.2d 669, 674 (Ct. App. 2006). In reviewing a trial judge’s jury instructions, the appellate court must view the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009). An appellate court will not reverse a trial judge’s decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 159, 634 S.E.2d 23, 26 (Ct. App. 2006).

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330(A) a person is guilty of armed robbery if he or she commits a robbery “while armed with a pistol, dirk, slingshot, metal knuckles, razor, or other deadly weapon.” Additionally, a person is also guilty of armed robbery if he does not use one of the items listed above, but alleges, “either by action or words” he was armed “while using a representation of a deadly weapon or any object” which a person present during the robbery reasonably believed to be a deadly weapon.

In the instant case, the trial judge properly denied Appellant’s request to charge strong arm robbery because all evidence presented indicated Appellant, at the very least, was armed with a toy gun when he committed the robbery. In the recording of the robbery, Appellant is seen holding both a knife and a gun-shaped object and extending them towards the store clerk operating the register, who then flees. In his audio-recorded statement, Appellant did not recall using a knife but did admit to using a gun like object; Appellant described the item as a high-quality toy worth several hundred dollars. The only evidence presented at trial indicated Appellant was armed with actual weapons or items which appeared to be such, both of which are defined as armed robbery under South Carolina law. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330. Because

the only evidence presented indicated Appellant's actions were armed robbery, the trial judge properly refused to charge the jury on the offense of strong arm robbery.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

DAVID R. WAGNER  
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit